IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-01377-COA

JERMAINE MCKINNEY

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

JAN 2 1 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY:

ermaine McKinney #101148

MWCF

503 South Main Street Columbia MS 39429 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO, 2007-CP-01377-COA

JERMAINE MCKINNEY

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A.

Appellant Jermaine McKinney was denied effective assistance of counsel during the pretrial proceedings where counsel advised appellant to plead guilty to indictment without having first challenged legality of a multiple counts indictment since the indictment was factually illegal where it failed to state the jurisdiction which the alleged crimes were committed, and where the counts of indictment contradicted the facts alleged in the record, and by mentally coercing Appellant to enter a plea of guilty without giving McKinney a clear notice of the charges against him. Defense counsel failed to object to the indictment recorded under Cause No. 8807.

В.

Defense counsel was ineffective where counsel failed to object to the multiple count indictment under Cause No. 8807, which was used to mentally coerce Appellant to enter plea of guilty while counsel was aware and had knowledge that the indictment was illegal due to violation of the 4th, 5th, 6th, and 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

C.

The sentence imposed upon Jermaine McKinney constitutes a denial of due process of law and equal protection of the law as guaranteed him under the 4th, 5th and 14th Amendments of

the United States Constitution where trial court imposed sentence under a two tier sentencing scheme.

D.

Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise McKinney of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant McKinney was never told that, under applicable law, his sentence could be appealed to the Supreme Court for direct review independent to the plea of guilty to the charge.

Ē.

The trial court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing before actually entering an order denying the PCR motion where there was facts in dispute and the motion met the requirements for conducting an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 14, 2004, McKinney was arrested for Aggravated Assault and Burglary of a Dwelling. Appellant McKinney was on probation at this time and the Probation Officer advised McKinney that the probation would not be violated because the circumstances of the arrest were well known and that McKinney had not committed no actions to cause the arrest. The probation advised McKinney that he was aware that the charges would be dropped. The charges were filed against Appellant McKinney by an ex-girlfriend by the name of Juanita Cooperwood, because of a fall out McKinney had with Ms. Cooperwood a month prior to the arrest. Juanita Cooperwood called Appellant's Probation Officer several times asking how could she drop the charges because she had falsified the charges, and that was the reason why the probation had declined to violate McKinney's violate Appellant McKinney's probation. Juanita Cooperwood

came to court with Appellant McKinney and signed non-prosecution documennation, but the Prosecuting Attorney decided he still wanted to prosecute Appellant McKinney for the said charges. When Appellant McKinney was released on bond, such bond was violated a couple of months later on a dirty urine, but not because of the pending assault and burglary charges which Appellant McKinney was indicted for on October 6, 2005. Pictures were taken of Juanita Cooperwood and her face was swollen at the time, but she never went to the hospital and there were no broken or fractured bones. There was never an allegation of any weapon being used at anytime during the alleged confrontation. Ms. Copperwood falsified the record stating that Appellant McKinney beat her on her face and body with my fists and kicked her in her stomach. Juanita Cooperwood told Appellant's appointed attorney that she let Appellant McKinney in the house and that Appellant McKinney did not break into nor burglarized her house, and while Appellant McKinney was incarcerated Appellant McKinney talked to Juanita Cooperwood and she advised Appellant that the Investigators told her Appellant McKinney would not get any time because the situation was not serious enough. During April 2004, while Appellant McKinney was out on bond, Appellant McKinney went to court and the grand jury did not pick up the case. Appellant McKinney was told then by a Mr. Perkins, of the West Point Police, the only way the grand jury would pick up the case the next term is if new evidence was presented for an indictment. No new evidence was presented but Appellant McKinney was still indicted on Aggravated Assault and Burglary when Appellant McKinney was expecting the case to be dismissed. On April 6, 2005, before the indictment, Appellant McKinney was returned back to the Court per court order and Ms. Cooperwood told the D.A. several times in the presence of Appellant that she did not want to prosecute. The prosecutor then tricked Cooperwood by leading her to believe that he did not have any choice and that it was mandatory that she prosecute.

After Appellant McKinney was indicted, the prosecution came to Appellant with a plea of twenty years, and Appellant McKinney turned it down. The prosecutors, along with Appellant's attorney, advised Appellant McKinney that he would go to trial the next day. The next day the plea dropped to twelve years and then dropped to eight years.

Appellant McKinney was not able to see his indictment until after the plea and at that time Appellant's attorney showed Appellant McKinney the indictment where Appellant had been charged on a third count of attempted burglary. It is Appellant's knowledge that the State finally revealed the third charge to Appellant because the state knew that the charge of assault and burglary would not stick, but when Appellant McKinney made bond it was for the assault and burglary, not for attempted burglary. The attempted burglary was revealed unto Appellant McKinney at the last minute. The information stated Appellant McKinney broke a window with intent get into the house, but if the charges had been investigated, it would have been revealed that it was one of those windows that doesn't lock. The window then pulls out, and it was already broke, and when Appellant McKinney pulled the window out the broken pieces fell out. Appellant McKinney then left the house after that and was called on his cell phone by Ms. Cooperwood, who asked Appellant McKinney to come back to the house. Appellant McKinney took the eight years plea for attempted burglary because Appellant felt like it was the best way to get back in Court, since Appellant McKinney was never charged or indicted on that charge, at least Appellant McKinney thought he was not indicted on that charge since Appellant's attorney had never mentioned to Appellant McKinney a bout a third count on the indictment. Appellant McKinney really wanted to go to trial but Appellant McKinney knew that his appointed attorney was on the prosecutors' side. Appellant McKinney accepted the plea because of the mental coercion applied by his attorney and the emotional torture which the state and Appellant's

attorney applied by telling Appellant he would be thrown away and by allowing Appellant to see his daughter from a distance and watching the tears roll down from his parents' faces.

V.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In Corley v. State, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R. Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." See, e.g., Sappington v. State, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. Hill v. State, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); Watts v. Lucas, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); Ball v. State, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); Tiller v. State, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Appellant Jermaine McKinney was denied him Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney, representing him during the plea and sentencing proceedings, advised Jermaine McKinney to plead guilty to the charge without first having objected to or challenged the indictment which was illegal on it's face where it failed to give the Jurisdiction where the alleged crimes were committed when appellant had knowledge of charges pending in two other counties which may have occurred under the same jurisdiction, and where the counts charged in the indictment was contradictory and conflicting with the facts recorded in the record, notwithstanding the indictment failed to give the defendant/appellant a clear notice of the charges before counsel mentally coerced Appellant to enter a plea of guilty. Defense counsel never objected to the indictment recorded under Criminal Cause No. 8807.

In. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 815 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:.

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) him attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. <u>Hiter v.</u>

State, 660 So. 2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for him attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086

(Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. <u>Carney v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

In Ward v. State, 708 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1998), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls him client's case. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also Herring v. Estelle, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the Strickland analysis); Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that him attorney did not know the relevant law).

In the instant case, defense counsel failed properly represent McKinney effectively by failing to investigate the indictment or object to the fact that the indictment was an illegal instrument.

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Knight v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); Barnes v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); Waldrop v. State, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), aff'd after remand, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of

counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for him attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted the "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See <u>Trapnell v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client, 2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a defendant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in him plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule

requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515-520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

ΙI

In a long line of cases that includes Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 458 (1938), and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution quarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in him favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for him defence." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275 , 276 (1942); see Powell v. Alabama, supra, at 68-69.

Because of the vital importance of counsel's assistance, this Court has held that, with certain exceptions, a person accused of a federal or state crime has the right to have counsel appointed if retained counsel cannot be obtained. See Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972); Gideon v. Wainwright, supra; Johnson v. Zerbst, supra. That a person who happens to be a lawyer is present at trial alongside the accused, however, is not enough to satisfy the constitutional command. The Sixth Amendment recognizes the right to the assistance of counsel because it envisions counsel's playing a role that is critical to the ability of the adversarial system to produce just results. An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair. [466 U.S. 668, 686] For that reason, the Court has recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 , n. 14 (1970). Government violates the right to effective assistance when it interferes in certain ways with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions about how to conduct the defense. See, e. g., <u>Geders v. United States</u>, 425 U.S. 80 (1976) (bar on attorney-client consultation during overnight recess); Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853 (1975) (bar on summation

at bench trial); Brooks v. Tennessee, 406 U.S. 605, 612 -613 (1972) (requirement that defendant be first defense witness); Ferguson v. Georgia, 365 U.S. 570, 593 -596 (1961) (bar on direct examination of defendant). Counsel, however, can also deprive a defendant of the right to effective assistance, simply by failing to render "adequate legal assistance," Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S., at 344 . Id. at 345-350 (actual conflict of interest adversely affecting lawyer's performance renders assistance ineffective). The Court has not elaborated on the meaning of the constitutional requirement of effective assistance in the latter class of cases - that is, those presenting claims of "actual ineffectiveness." In giving meaning to the requirement, however, we must take its purpose - to ensure a fair trial - as the guide. The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. The same principle applies to a capital sentencing proceeding such as that provided by Florida law. We need not consider the role of counsel in an ordinary sentencing, which may involve informal proceedings and standardless discretion in the sentencer, and hence may require a different approach to the definition of constitutionally effective assistance. A capital sentencing proceeding like the one involved in this case, however, is sufficiently like a trial in its adversarial format and in the existence of standards for decision, see Barclay [466 U.S. 668, 687] v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 952 -954 (1983); Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430 (1981), that counsel's role in the proceeding is comparable to counsel's role at trial - to ensure that the adversarial testing process works to produce a just result under the standards governing decision. For purposes of describing counsel's duties, therefore, Florida's capital sentencing proceeding need not be distinguished from an ordinary trial.

ΙΙΙ

A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Α

As all the Federal Courts of Appeals have now held, the proper standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. See <u>Trapnell v. United States</u>, 725 F.2d,

at 151-152. The Court indirectly recognized as much when it stated in McMann v. Richardson, supra, at 770, 771, that a quilty plea cannot be attacked as based on inadequate legal advice unless counsel was not "a reasonably competent attorney" and the advice was not "within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." See also Cuyler v. Sullivan, supra, at 344. When a convicted defendant [466 U.S. 668, 688] complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. More specific quidelines are not appropriate. The Sixth Amendment refers simply to "counsel," not specifying particular requirements of effective assistance. It relies instead on the legal profession's maintenance of standards sufficient to justify the law's presumption that counsel will fulfill the role in the adversary process that the Amendment envisions. See Michael v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 100 -101 (1955). The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms. Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties. Counsel's function is to assist the defendant, and hence counsel owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See Cuyler v. Sullivan, supra, at 346. From counsel's function as assistant to the defendant derive the overarching duty to advocate the defendant's cause and the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution. Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. See Powel<u>l</u> v. Alabama, 287 U.S., at 68 -69. These basic duties neither exhaustively define the obligations of counsel nor form a checklist for judicial evaluation of attorney performance. In any case presenting an ineffectiveness claim, the performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances. Prevailing norms of practice as reflected in American Bar Association standards and the like, e. g., ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 4-1.1 to 4-8.6 (2d ed. 1980) ("The Defense Function"), are guides to determining what is reasonable, but they are only guides. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take [466 U.S. 668, 689] account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Any such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions. See United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C., at 371, 624 F.2d, at 208. Indeed, the existence of detailed guidelines for representation could distract counsel from the overriding mission of vigorous advocacy of the defendant's cause. Moreover, the purpose of the effective assistance guarantee of the Sixth Amendment is not to improve the quality of legal representation, although that is a goal of considerable importance to the legal system. The purpose is simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after

conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. Cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 133 -134 (1982). A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action "might be considered sound trial strategy." See Michel v. Louisiana, supra, at 101. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way. See Goodpaster, [466 U.S. 668, 690] The Trial for Life: Effective Assistance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, 58 N. Y. U. L. Rev. 299, 343 (1983). The availability of intrusive post-trial inquiry into attorney performance or of detailed guidelines for its evaluation would encourage the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges. Criminal trials resolved unfavorably to the defendant would increasingly come to be followed by a second trial, this one of counsel's unsuccessful defense. Counsel's performance and even willingness to serve could be adversely affected. Intensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable assistance could dampen the ardor and impair the independence of defense counsel, discourage the acceptance of assigned cases, and undermine the trust between attorney and client. Thus, a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct. A convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment. The court must then determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance. In making that determination, the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. At the same time, the court should recognize that counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. These standards require no special amplification in order to define counsel's duty to investigate, the duty at issue in this case. As the Court of Appeals concluded, strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic [466 U.S. 668, 691] choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.

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