JERMAINE MCKINNEY

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

APR 2 3 2008

NO. 2007-CP-1377

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

ARGUMENT

THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

A Circuit Court may deny relief on a motion in post - conviction relief where "it plainly appears from the face of the motion any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief." Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-39-11(2) (Rev. 2007). This Court will not disturb the decision by the Circuit Court to dismiss such a motion absent a finding that the Circuit Court clearly erred in its decision. *Trice v. State*, No. 2007-KA-00041-COA (Miss. Ct. App., Decided 15 December 2007, Not Yet Officially Reported) The Circuit

Court committed no error in denying relief on the prisoner's motion.

In his first claim, the prisoner says that his attorney was ineffective for having failed to object to the indictment. It is said that the indictment failed to allege the jurisdiction in which the prisoner committed the felonies alleged in it. This is simply untrue: jurisdiction is clearly alleged in the upper left hand part of the indictment; the particular counts of the indictment refer to that allegation of jurisdiction. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 35).

The prisoner then says that counsel "mentally coerc[ed]" him into pleading guilty, knowing that the indictment was "illegal." It was "illegal," according to the prisoner, because the prisoner was allegedly indicted in counts one and two on false information.

The prisoner was not convicted on counts one and two of the indictment. He was convicted on count three, which alleged attempted burglary of a dwelling. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 37). Consequently, counts one and two are of no significance. There is, in any event, not the first suggestion in this record, other than one arising from the prisoner's fevered imagination, supported only by his verification, that counts one and two were returned on the basis of "false information." And certainly there is nothing, again other than the prisoner's own verification, that the defense counsel used counts one and two to coerce the prisoner into pleading guilty. This Court has consistently held that a Circuit Court commits no error in denying relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where the claim is supported only by the prisoner's affidavit. *E.g. Ray v. State*, 976 So.2d 398 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The prisoner then says that he was not aware of Count 3 of the indictment. There is nothing to support this most unlikely claim, other than the prisoner's verification.

The prisoner then says that the Circuit Court erred in imposing a period of five years on post -release supervision in addition to an eight - year term of imprisonment. The complaint

appears to be that, in the event the prisoner serves the entire eight - year term, the court would not be in a position to require him to serve additional time in the event that the prisoner will be unable to satisfactorily complete the period of post - release supervision.

The Circuit Court sentenced the prisoner to a term of eight years imprisonment. It does not appear that the court suspended any part of that term. The court then imposed a period of five years post - release supervision. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 37 - 40).

Under Miss. Code Ann. Section 47-7-34(1) (Rev. 2004), a circuit court may impose a period of post - release supervision, if it has imposed a term of incarceration. The only limitation on the court's power in this regard is that the number of years of incarceration and the number of years of post - release supervision may not exceed the maximum period of incarceration authorized to be imposed. However, the maximum amount of time that the Department of Corrections may supervise an offender is five years. Miss. Code Ann. Section 47-7-34(3). In the case at bar, the sentence of eight years and five - year period of post - release supervision did not exceed the maximum imposable period of incarceration for a conviction of attempted burglary of a dwelling. Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-17-23; 97-1-7 (Rev. 2006).

There is nothing in Section 47-7-34 that requires a sentencing court to suspend a sentence in whole or in part as a condition for imposing post - release supervision. The only requirement is that the to-serve sentence and period of post - release supervision not exceed the statutory maximum. Here it did not. Now, it may be that in many if not most instances the sentencing court will suspend some part of the sentence imposed. But that this is commonly done does not mean that it must be done. The statute does not require it. Here, the practical effect of the Circuit Court's sentence is that, in the event that the prisoner is released by the Department of Corrections before serving the whole of the eight - year sentence, the Circuit Court will be

limited to imposing that portion that the prisoner did not serve in the event that it should revoke the prisoner's post - release supervision.

In any event, the issue is not ripe for decision at this time. The prisoner is in custody, has not been released, and as far anyone can divine, he may never be subjected to revocation. The issue presented by the prisoner is not presently ripe for review in view of the fact that he is not now subject to revocation. The prisoner may challenge the propriety of the imposition of the term of post - release supervision if and when the State attempts to revoke it. *Cf. Conley v. State*, 790 So.2d 733, 806 (Miss. 2001).

The prisoner then complains that the trial court did not inform him, during the plea colloquy, that he had the right to appeal his sentence.

The Circuit Court informed the prisoner that "... under the laws of the State of Mississippi he would have no right to appeal to the Supreme Court after the plea of guilty." (R. Vol. 1, pg. 38). The court said nothing about any potential appeal as to the sentence imposed. The Circuit Court's explanation that there would be no right to appeal the guilty plea was correct. Gladney v. State, 963 So.2d 1217, 1222 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The information given to the prisoner by the Circuit Court was substantively the same as that given by the court in Epps v. State, 926 So.2d 242 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The advice to a person who is entering a guilty plea that a guilty plea waives the right to appeal in the event of a conviction after a trial is correct advice, and is no ground to set aside a conviction and sentence arising from a guilty plea.

Even assuming for argument that the Circuit Court was required to advise the prisoner that he could appeal the sentence imposed, there would be no prejudice to this prisoner. The sentence was well within statutory limits, and there is nothing to suggest that the prisoner had any good ground to complain of it. Thus, assuming for argument that the court erred, any such

error would surely be harmless error.

In the last claim, the prisoner alleges that the Circuit Court erred in refusing to grant an evidentiary hearing on his motion. Once again, he bandies about his allegations that witnesses lied, his attorney was involved in some sort of a conspiracy, and that a transcript of the plea colloquy was not included in the record on appeal.

There was nothing at all in the prisoner's motion in post - conviction relief, beyond his own say - so, to even suggest that one or more witnesses lied or that his attorney conspired against him. As we have said above, there was no obligation to grant an evidentiary hearing in view of the fact that there were no affidavits other than the prisoner's.

As for a transcript of the plea colloquy, the prisoner might have moved to supplement the record to have this included. He did not, and that was his choice. It was his burden to provide a record to support his claims. *Smith v. State*, 572 So.2d 847 (Miss. 1990). In any event, the record present here is, as the prisoner admits, sufficient upon which to address his claims.

The prisoner appears to claim that the Circuit Court was obliged by law to examine the transcript. For all this Court and we know, the Circuit Court did just that. But, in any event, there is no authority of which we are aware that requires such. The prisoner cites none. This claim is to be ignored since it is not supported by authority.

CONCLUSION

The order of the Circuit Court denying relief on the prisoner's motion in post - conviction relief should be affirmed.